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August of 1778 hurricane hits East

North Carolina

STONO FERRY  June 20 

Spring of 1779 at West Point, New York,
all the officers of the North Carolina Line
threatened to resign

May 12th General Lincoln surrendered
the American Southern army. 

15 August 1780 James taken
prisoner by from Col. Tarletons
dragoons

James released from prison
ship in Baltimore harbor.
December 1780  James assigned
to General Morgan. 

Cowpens January 17th, 1781;
Daniel Morgan inflicted a
smashing defeat on the arrogant
and impetuous Banastre Tarleton.  

Guilford Courthouse

Discharged in the spring of 1782
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JAMES

McCRORY
(1758-1840)

Author: Robert L. Tucker
Olathe, Kansas

James McCrory was born 15 May 1758, at
Larga, on the river Bann, in the county of
Antrim, Ireland (Ref.#14) near a town called
Portadown on the backwater in a place called
Bellaghy (See BEG on Map 1.). In 1775 he
along with his brothers Hugh, John) and Thomas
Ida McCrory sailed from Belfast and landed in
Baltimore July 1st 1775.  James was 17 years old
when they landed in Baltimore. Moved to
Guilford Court, Guilford County, North Carolina
within a year of their landing (See Map 2).

Enlistment
Early in 1776, Thomas McCrory (James brother)
organized a Continental Line company for North
Carolina.  To do this Thomas must have been a
fairly prominent individual in the community.
He was commissioned to the rank of captain and
commanded the company.  The company was
assigned to the 9th regiment commanded by Col.
John P. Williams.  A regiment's, normal head
count was 728 officers and men.  Each regiment
was divided in to 8 companies each had a
captain, two lieutenants, one ensign, four
sergeants, four corporals, two drummers or
fifers, and 76 privates.

Map 2 - Two Counties

Bann or Ban (The), a large

river of the province of Ulster.

In consequence of its traversing

Lough Neagh, or becoming lost

for a great distance in that

inland sea, it is usually

regarded as consisting of the

Upper and Lower Bann. Near

Portadown the river moves

slowly and is navigated by

boats of 50 tons. (Gagesteer of

Ireland part 2 941.5E5p)

Bellaghy

Antrim

Beg

Partglenone

Map 1 - Northern Ireland
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As troops go, "they were
ill-trained, ill-fed, ill-
housed, ill-clothed,
without sufficient arms,
ammunition, blankets,
and tents".

 (Continentals-p.83)

As to their state of readiness, we can draw from
an observation made at the time.

Other than these shortcomings, one might
jokingly say they were prepared.

Yet, this list of items didn't measure the most
important factors that were to make difference.

Dedication and endurance. And they had a lot of
that.

James enlisted 15 Apr 1776
(See references #2,5, 21) in
his brother's company
(Thomas McCrory) for 2
years and 6 months.  Later
he transferred to Cpt. Cookes
Company still within the 9th
regiment, where he was
promoted to sergeant. On the
2nd of May 1777 James was
promoted to the rank of
Ensign for:

courage, good service and
meritorious conduct.

James’ first battle was also the first one for most
of the continental units. (Ref #21)

Figure 1 - Soldier of the
American Revolution in
Uniform

Line of Battle
The line of battle was the principal fighting
formation used during this time.  Generally, the
infantry formed in ranks- two deep as designed
by Friedrich von Steuben. Company officers
generally were on the right of the first rank with
his sergeant behind him two ranks back.  A full
regiment would have eight companies with four
platoons each.
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BRANDYWINE,
PENNSYLVANIA
 (11 Sep, 1777)

randywine is located about 10 miles
north of Wilmington Delaware.  It
wasn't a particularly formidable
obstacle when considered in the light

of military geography.  The position's
primary advantage lay in the depth of the
stream. The Brandywine River at that time
of year was about 150 feet wide and had a
depth that forced a marching army to use a
ford to make the crossing.  Unfortunately,
there were a number of such fords along the
river.

Washington had 11,000 troops and chose to
make a defensive position using Chad's Ford
as the center.   Here the position provided a
good defensive site and included a view of
three fords: Chadd's, Brinton's and Painter's.
Of equal importance to Washington was the
availability of a good route for withdrawal
should it be necessary.

Major General Nathanael Greene was given
command of the center.  Nash's North
Carolina brigade had been assigned to
Greene and most were to be held in reserve
behind the center of Greene's division;
except for a few that were assigned to
General William Maxwell.

Anthony Wayne's Pennsylvania unit was
positioned near the top of the hill behind
some earthworks that had been rapidly
thrown up near Chad's house (See  Map #3).

Major General John Sullivan's division was
positioned on the right wing, some two miles
upstream in wooded hilly terrain.  His forces
would cover Brinton; Painter fords as well as
providing right flank security should Howe
attempt to flank Washington using one of these
fords.

The left flank was assigned to General John
Armstrong’s militia.

General William Maxwell was assigned with his
eight hundred light infantrymen that included a
number of soldiers detached from the North
Carolina Brigade.  They were positioned to the
south on the far side of the Brandywine stream.

Their purpose was to delay the British from
reaching Chadd’s Ford.

IT BEGINS
As dawn broke on the morning of Sep 11, 1777,
fog clung to the ground till about eight o’clock.
With the rising of the sun, it promised to be a hot
and sultry day.  Then American alarm guns firing
from the top of the hill.

Troops on the heights above Chadd's ford could
make out the green coats of the loyalist (British)
rangers and riflemen commanded by Patrick
Ferguson moving towards the ford.  For two
hours, Maxwell's light infantry and the North

Map 3 - Brandywine Battle

B
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Carolinians engaged them briskly, inflicting
severe casualties. The North Carolinians did
well.

Then an artillery duel began to develop as the
British brought up their field guns. Upon several
occasions Col. Martin's forces made the British
to pull back from the far shore.  But by 10:30 or
11:00 under cover of their artillery, the British
had pushed as far as the banks of Brandywine
River.  Then a strange silence fell over the
battlefield.  They had just stopped.  But why?

Washington should have guessed that this was
only a faint meant to hold his attention. Howe
had split his force in an effort to flank
Washington's army. The British plan called for
Cornwallis's command of 8,000 to cross
somewhere upriver, and then turn the American
flank and then fall upon the rear of the defenders
at Chad's Ford. By 11:00 it was obvious the no
real effort was being made by General

Knyphausen to cross the Brandywine.
Washington was worried.

Knyphausen’s indecision confused prompted
Washington to move two divisions toward
Birmingham MeetingHouse, 3 1/2 miles from
Chad's Ford to protect his flank. Had Howe split
his forces?  There was no word from either flank;
still Washington couldn't bring himself to believe
Howe had split his forces. So Washington made
the decision to recall Sullivan's force and
reposition them along the Brandywine River.

Just after giving the order to Sullivian to
reposition his troops everything seem to happen.
First, a hatless, coatless, barelegged farmer burst
into camp on a heaving, sweating horse,
demanding to see General Washington.  He
identified himself as Squire Thomas Cheney, a
good patriot, and declared that from the top of
the hill at Birmingham Meetinghouse he had

spotted the British marching up the far side of
the Brandywine. If this were true, Howe’s forces
would flank Sullivian’s division and be able to
attack the very heart of the army. All these
intelligence reports conflicted and made it even
more difficult for Washington to determine what
was really going on.  But that is the lot of war.
Confusion.

Just then a rider brought Washington another
message from Sullivan.  "Colonel Bland,
scouting with his troops of light horsemen
sighted the enemy not too far from Birmingham
Meeting House." It seems that Cornwallis had
traveled much further upstream than anyone had
thought, clear up to Jeffrie's Ford. Immediately,
Washington dispatched three to Birmingham
MeetingHouse. Washington remained with
Greene for he still thought the main attack would
come at Chad's Ford.  He still thought the
flanking action to just a rouse.

It wasn't until 4:30 in the afternoon, that
Washington was finally convinced that General
Howe was trying to flank position.  Sullivan had
begun to move his command into a blocking
action, but before he could get all his troops into

Sir William Howe
Was a paradox: a skilled
strategist and tactician,
he outmaneuvered
Washington at every
opportunity, yet time
after time he failed to
apply the final stroke that
might have crushed the
rebel army.

Major General
Lord Charles
Cornwallis
Was a distinctly
unmilitary looking
British officer who
nevertheless, unlike
many British officers of
the day, was able to plan
a campaign in detail,
with dispatch and skill.
Later, he became one of
England's best generals.
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position, Cornwallis attacked.  Washington could
see that Sullivan’s division needed reinforcing.
Finally, Washington ordered Greene, with Nash's
brigade to support Sullivan's forces, leaving only
Wayne's Pennsylvania Continentals to hold the
ford against Knyphausen's 5,000.  This would be
a tall order for Wayne’s men to hold the position;
but if Sullivan wasn’t reinforced the army would
be lost.

Out-numbered by more than two to one, the
American troops on the right flank under
Stephen and Sullivan fought well.  Cornwallis
constantly kept them off balance by gradually
working his troops to the right toward Dilworth
and the road to Philadelphia.  Five times
Cornwallis' men drove the Americans back and
five times the American's rallied and came
surging forward. Finally, after an hour and a half
of intense fighting and under constant pressure,
the Americans were forced back.

Sullivan gave the order to retreat; unfortunately
the retreat turned into a rout.  Although the
officers' tried to turn the tied, nothing worked.

Fortunately, General Greene's men refused to
panic, and opened their ranks to allow Sullivan's
men to pass through, then they reformed their
ranks and presented a wall to Cornwallis'
pursuing troops.  Cornwallis' advanced was
stopped! The army had been saved.

Back at Chadd's Ford, Wayne's Pennsylvanians
did quite well. Time and time again the British
supported by artillery attacked and were stopped.
The Americans held on until near sunset.  Only
then Knyphausen's forces finally muster a
sustained drive forcing Wayne's men from their
positions and unfortunately, captured several
American artillery pieces.

There was nothing Washington could do but
withdraw. Thus, that night the brigade moved to
Chester, the designated rendezvous point, where
Washington’s army would reform.

Except for those North Carolinians assigned to
General Maxwell, the remainder of Nash's North
Carolina Brigade didn't get into action that hot,
dusty afternoon.  But they were near enough to
see the haze of battle and to smell the pungent
odor of burnt powder.

Casualties were heavy: Americans 1,000, British
500; but while defeated the American Army was
not a pushover as the British had thought they
would be.  Even the Continental Congress, who

complained about everything, could not bring
itself to heap criticism on Washington nor his
Army.  Indeed they voted thirty hogshead of rum
for the army "in compliment.... for their gallant
behavior."
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GERMANTOWN,
PENNSYLVANIA

GETTING THERE
ollowing Brandywine, Howe split his
forces sending Cornwallis after
Washington at Chester. After learning that
Howe was moving towards the American

depot at Valley Forge Washington attempted a
blocking action. Howe came full force against
Washington. The British threatened both of
Washington's flanks.  Just when the battle started
a sudden torrential downpour came halting the
battle and perhaps saving Washington's army
from a catastrophic defeat.  This was called the
battle of the Clouds.

Washington retreated West to Yellow Springs
but had to ultimately go on to Warwick Furnice
to obtain dry powder and other supplies.
Meanwhile, Howe continued on to Valley Forge.
With Washington now unable to block Howe
from reaching either Valley Forge or
Philadelphia, Howe headed for Philadelphia and
on the way settled in Germantown.

Meanwhile, Washington left Wayne's unit near
Paoli Tavern to fall upon Howe's baggage train.
Unfortunately, Howe captured some
communication messages and Tory spies
betrayed Wayne's passwords.

Howe took advantage of this opportunity by
dispensing Major General Charles Grey and his
unit to Paoli's Tavern to destroy Wayne's forces
by "bayonets only" as the order stipulated.  The
British attacked at one o'clock in the morning,
easily pushing through Wayne's pickets because
they had the passwords provided by the Tory
spies. When the alarm came, Wayne had his men
up and moving in a matter of minutes, but in the
confusion orders were misunderstood and the
units were silhouetted by the light of their own
camp fires.  Grey's men smashed into the
American camp bayoneted Grey and his men.
The effect was grim.  In close action, the bayonet
was a fearsome weapon.  Many Americans didn't
have them and couldn't reload in time to resist.
One British solider remembered afterwards that
he had stuck so many men that blood ran out of
the touch-hole of his musket.

Fifty-three Americans were killed and 100
wounded, the rest fled.  The British suffered 4
killed and 7 wounded.  For this reason, Wayne
called the engagement a massacre.  But the
British forces were really guilty of no offense
beyond a lop sided success in battle.

Following this battle, and using a little trickery,
the British were able to march into Philadelphia
September 26th; but the Congress had already
fled.  Howe then stationed his main force at
Germantown, some five miles northwest of
Philadelphia.  He refused to allow his troops to
fortify their positions lest the move be
interpreted as a sign of weakness.  Thus, the
opportunity was set.

F
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Howe's position was thought by many to be
uneasy at best.  Ben Franklin, observed
"Philadelphia has captured Howe."

The houses of Germantown, stretched out for
two miles along the Skippack Road.  Each house
neatly enclosed by a rail fence.  Many were

massive stone mansions
that could easily serve
as fortresses.  There
were few crossroads as
such but several
intersecting lanes; each
bordered with fences
that could shelter a force
large enough to check
an army moving down
the big road.

THE BATTLE
Washington's battle plan
was in essence, a giant
pincer movement He
assigned two divisions
to drive into the center
to crush it, while two
brigades closed in on
the flanks.  Although
John Sullivan was under
heavy criticism for his
behavior at Brandywine,
Washington still chose
him to command the
frontal attack that went
along the Skippack,
Chestnut Hill roads.
Sullivan's command
was to be made up of
own and Wayne's
divisions, with a brigade
commanded by
Brigadier General
Thomas Conway.

General Greene came
down the left flank
(Lime Kiln Road) and
commanded his own
division plus Adam

Stephen's. General Greene's troops faced what
was considered the best the British had and thus,
General Green was given 2/3 of the 11,000
troops Washington commanded.

 To get into position, Greene's troops had to
march four additional miles. Greene put
Alexander McDougall's brigade was out in front
to be the point.

Map 4- Getting to Germantown
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Washington put John Armstrong, with almost a
thousand Pennsylvania militiamen, on the right
flank.  They were to march down Ridge Pike and
turn the enemy's left flank.

As reserve Washington choose Lord Stirling's
light infantry brigade commanded by William
Maxwell and General Nash's North Carolinians.

The plan called for the troops to begin their
march by 19:00 (7:00 PM) on 3 Oct 1777.  By
02:00 they were to halt within two miles of the
enemy pickets.  By 04:00 they were to be at the
line of departure and at 05:00 the attack was to
begin.  They were to attack the picket posts with

bayonets without firing.  Because it would be
difficult to distinguish friend from foe in the
grim, gray of the morning, the troops wore white
pieces of paper in their caps for identification.
Although this plan sounded good, it would be
tough to execute even had the troops been well
disciplined. Disciplined they were not, but they
had proven they could fight.

On October 3rd, British intelligence reports
suggested Washington planned to force another
action in the immediate future.  Thus, they
strengthened their pickets and stressed the
importance of keeping alert.  By 03:00 British
patrols had learned that the Americans were on

the march.  Although all
regiments had been
ordered under arms,
most of the officers felt
there was no real need
for alarm and shrugged
off those on the road as
little more than a "flying
party."  The foul
weather also
strengthened their
opinion that nothing
significant was
happening.

Map 5 - Encounter at Germantown



Germantown - The Battle

James McCrory Page: 11 (1758-1840)
3rd Edition

It began, but not at 05:00 but a 06:00. Sullivan
started his attack. Now the sun was just
beginning to penetrate the fog.  Still many of the
British troops were relaxed.  The Americans

overran the picket post at Mount Airy located
about a mile from Germantown, but not before
the defenders had sounded the alarm by firing
their two artillery pieces.  Both the British
Second Light Infantry and Col. Thomas
Musgrave's 40th Regiment unit rushed forward
to support the picket post.  Sullivan was forced
to wheel his column into a line of battle.
Wayne's division, still coping with the recent
memories of the Paoli Massacre, drove in with
bayonets. The British lines swayed and
mustered several counter charges, but were
finally forced back.  Following each charge,
Wayne's men, despite the cries of their officers,
took no prisoners.  Through the haze, sounded
the raucous strains of the British bugle
sounding retreat.

Sullivan pressed forward driving the enemy
before him.  His men, performing with unusual
discipline, advancing at a dog trot, tearing down
rail fences as they advance to enable them to
maintain their line.  For a mile they drove
Musgrave's men, who like seasoned troops and
should have resisted at every step.

Howe at first thought this was only a scouting
party and that his troops had turned the
oncoming attack.  He rode forward, expressing
his shame at the Light Infantry for retreating
thinking that they were retreating from a small
party.  But the rattle of grapeshot throughout
the branches of a tree above him rapidly
convinced him of his mistake.

There was no breeze that morning and the
powder smoke mixed with the fog and held
close to the ground. This cut visibility to 30
yards.  Musgrave saw this impaired visibility as
an advantage He pulled 120 men out of his
retreating unit and place them in the Chew
house, which was a massive stone house owned
by Pennsylvania Chief Justice Benjamin Chew.
This would put a good size force in the rear of
the Americans should the pass the position by.

Sullivan unit didn't notice this action at first and
continued to drive the rest of Musgrave's unit
into their camp.  Nash's Carolina brigade had
been held in reserve and had been ordered out
to the flank.  During this movement they came
under fire from the Chew house.  Washington
held a conference with his staff in back of the
house.  Some of his officers wanted to leave a
regiment to isolate this pocket of resistance,

thus allowing the other troops to press forward.
Henry Knox argued that they couldn't afford to
leave such a force in their rear.  A young
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lieutenant colonel was sent forward to the house
under a white flag but was shot from the house
and fatally wounded.  Artillery pieces were
brought forward, but the walls of the house were
so thick that the heavy cannon balls bounced off.
All this action took a precious half-hour; after
which they isolated the house and pressed on.

Vision was further impaired when the retreating
British troops set fire to the hay and stubble in
the fields.  Although Sullivan's men showed
great discipline pushing on through this blinding,
choking cloud of smoke, it greatly increased the
problem of control.  To keep the pressure on the
British, Nash's Carolina brigade had been
ordered up.  Washington pushed forward with
the men, exposing him so recklessly that
Sullivan finally asked him to retire. By now
Sullivan's men were running low on ammunition.

Confusion started to compound.  Greene's troops
had arrived on the left flank an hour late (his
march had been longer and his guide had lost his
way.).  He had contacted the Queen's Rangers at
Luken's Mill.  McDougall never did get into
position, thereby exposing Washington's flanks.
Adam Stephen who was with Greene's forces
went into the battle drunk.  When he heard the
artillery and musket fire at the Chew House, he
wheeled his division to the right and marched to
the scene without orders.  This weakened the
basic battle plan.  Anthony Wayne, hearing the
same sounds from the Chew House, thought a
British unit had fallen on Sullivan's rear and
swung his division around to come to Sullivan's
aid.

As Wayne's men broke through the dense fog,
Sullivan's men mistook them for the British
troops, formed a battle line and delivered a
volley.  Wayne's unit returned fire.  Then both
units broke and ran.  The seeds of panic had been
sown. Other troops seeing Stephen’s troops
thought the order to retreat had been issued and
followed suit. Despite Sullivan's officers attempt
to rally their unit, the troops continued to run.
This took place at the very moment Washington
thought they had victory in the grasp as was
about to order a general advance towards
Philadelphia.  The situation continued to degrade
as Sullivan's division become terror-stricken
began to not only withdraw, but flee the field.
There was little Washington could do but attempt
to bring some order out of the rout. He finally
issued a withdrawal of all units.  It wasn't
Pennypacker's Mill, some twenty miles away
that order was restored to the American Army.

Although panic had set in, the North Carolina
Line didn't flee with the rest; they stood their
ground and kept a vigil, as they were now the
rear guard.  In fact when the order to retreat
came Nash's men were in possession of sixteen
artillery pieces.  There are several reports
praising the Carolina line such as: "behaved
well,” and "with great resolution."

Nash joined Anthony Wayne's unit to form the
rear guard to protect the withdrawal and began a
stubborn resistance as they slowly fell back.
Unfortunately, Nash was forced to abandon the
cannon to increase his rate of withdrawal and to
prevent encirclement by the British. Nash was
sitting astride his horse directing his men when a
cannon ball smashed into his left thigh, mangling
his body in a horrible fashion and killing his
horse.  Then a musket ball grazed his head,
blinding him. By looking at his injuries, it was
quite evident that Nash’s days were numbered.
His men hurriedly made a litter of brush and
poles and tenderly carried him from the field.
Later, Thomas Paine saw him some distance
from the field, and said that Nash's wounds
mangled his body so great that he was unable to
recognize him.  Nash finally died the 7th of
October.  At 10:00 on the 9th of October, he was
buried at the crossroads near Washington's
headquarters at Toemensing.  Later the Congress
voted monies for a memorial monument.

Of this battle it was said that the American Army
had snatched defeat from the jaws of victory.
Indeed confusion had won the day.  No one
could determine just why things broke down so
completely and so fast. One observer noted that
"the enemy were astonished at our retreat as they
looked upon every thing as lost with them...."
Thomas Burke attributed the loose to the lack of
trained superior officers, and of order and
discipline in the army.  Adam Stephen was later
court-martialed for the "cowardice" behavior of
his troops that day.

After all was said and done, I feel that it was a
tribute to Washington and his staff for almost
pulling it off.  For the amount of training the
army had was very limited. What could have
been good initiative in one situation by Wayne
turned out to be just the opposite.  We also need
to remember that Wayne was still suffering from
the resent loss of his unit at Paoli two weeks
before.  Still, none of the gloom that is so
characteristic of a defeat was in the air; instead it
was an air of cheerfulness. Alexander Martin's
report to Caswell bragged that "though we
retreated from them at Chadd's Ford and at
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Germantown, yet the British have nothing to
boast about but their keeping the field."  A
citizen of Germantown wrote in their diary: "The
British seem afraid."  Thomas Paine, summed up
the attitude as "to be sensible this was a
disappointment, not a defeat."

When the tally was taken the Americans had lost
673 killed and wounded and 400 captured.  The
British reported losses of 521.

We must not just look at these numbers just so
many figures, but as brave men on both sides
that were willing to give their last measure for
the cause the represented.

All should be respected.
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Valley Forge

t was now December and growing colder.
The trees had now gone from the hue of
autumn to the barren trees of winter.
Snow flurries had left patches of snow in

various places.  Finally, Washington selected
a spot to winter despite Congress’ urges to
have a winter campaign.  Valley Forge
offered Washington the only location close
to where he wanted to be.

From the time of Germantown to now, the
army had done a lot of maneuvering and
they were tired and ill prepared.  On November
10th for example there were 227 of the North
Carolina troops ill.  Dec 3rd saw 258 of the
1,033 enlisted men unfit for duty.

In addition to this, because of internal politics,
General Nash had not been replaced; so, on
December 20th Washington placed the brigade
under the command of Brigadier General
Lachlan McIntosh of Georgia.  It was not a
command to be envied.  In numbers, the brigade
now totaled 1,384.  Of this number 1,051 were
on duty, 353 were sick and another 164 were
declared "unfit for want of cloaths."  But their
spirit wasn't broken.  All the ambulatory sick
joined the healthy in constructing huts to protect
themselves against the chill of the oncoming
winter.
So at the end of 1777, we the army huddled
together in make shift huts and with very gloomy
prospects.  They were in dire need of "breeches,
shoes, stockings, blankets and .....in want of
flour."  Regardless, there was more to this army
than what a person saw on the service.  They
were still together and helping each other.

The North Carolina Line was assigned a position
about 300 yards from the house where
Washington was quartered. Washington’s guard
unit built their huts near the house also.

Huts were built, while the army shivered and
huddled together in their ragged tents.  Because
of the lack of draught animals, many men yoked
themselves to the wagons and in this fashion
were able to haul timber onto the ground.
Soldiers were divided into parties of twelve, each
party building its own hut.  The huts were
fourteen by sixteen feet, six and one-half feet

tall.  As an incentive, Washington offered a prize
of twelve dollars to the party in each regiment
who produced the best hut in the shortest time
frame.  During this winter the soldiers would
only have faint memories of what comfort was
all about; but they did have hope for the future.

Then through it all, there was Congress
complaining that they were not doing enough. So
on December 23, Washington had had enough
and reported to Congress that not only were
many soldiers confined to the hospital for want
of shoes, but blankets were so scarce that large
numbers of men were forced to sit up by the fires
all night to keep from freezing to death.  In a
sarcastic refrain Washington noted to Congress
that "it is a much easier and less disturbing thing
to draw remonstrance in a comfortable room by a
good fireside than to occupy a cold bleak hillside
and sleep under frost and snow without clothes
or blankets.  However, although they seem to
have little feeling for the naked and distressed
soldiers, I feel superabundantly for them and,
from my soul, I pity those miseries, which is

neither in my power to relieve or prevent."1

James McCrory claimed that for a time at Valley
Forge, he was a part of Washington's
BodyGuards, a prestigious unit reserved to
protect General Washington and to be shook
troops in battle.  This fact is not supported in the
records, but that is not unusual, as they did not
have the means to record transfers during this
period.

In February, the North Carolina units troop
levels were so depleted Washington ordered
McIntosh to combine all nine regiments into

                                                
1 North Carolina State Records XIII, 361;
[Joseph Plumb Martin, A Narriative of Some of
the Adventures, Devolutionary Soldier

I
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three and send the supernumerary officers back
to North Carolina to recruit enough men to
reactivate their units. James McCrory was one of
the supernumeraries. So while Thomas and Hugh
McCrory (James brothers) stayed, James
returned to North Carolina to help the recruiting
effort. (Ref #20)

The only explanation some had for the army's
survival during Valley Forge is that the troops
had become conditioned to adversity beyond the
recognition of ordinary mortals.  Much credit
should be given to the officers who remained
with their men.  Their willingness to suffer such
hardships shows the depth of their beliefs.

At this same time in North Carolina, there was
supposed to be a recruiting effort going on.

Unfortunately, even with the hard work of the
recruiters, fraud and desertions where high and
stifled the efforts. (Ref #21)

N INE  MONTHS  DUTY
By June 1778, after the planting season,
recruiting picked up.  In every county men were
drafted to do nine months' duty with the
Continentals.

In August of 1778 there was a hurricane that
ripped through the eastern part of the state,
destroying the crops not yet harvested.  Too, the
Congress sent only one fifth of the funds needed
to send the troops north.  All of this really
complicated the recruiting efforts slowing it to a
trickle.

STONO FERRY
June 20 found James (Ref #21) near Charleston
with either the fourth or fifth North Carolina
Continentals.  The commander, Major General
Benjamin Lincoln, had planned to outflank the
enemy, but the poor communications made it
difficult to accomplish.

The first action came when John Henderson's
light infantry, on the left flank, met two
companies of the Seventy-First British
Highlanders.  Despite an inferiority of numbers,
the well-disciplined Scots advanced to the attack
with characteristic Highland daring.  The

American light infantry drove in with the
bayonet and engaged them in hand-to-hand
combat.  The Highlanders "stood as obstinate as
mules," until all but eleven privates had either
been killed or wounded.  Then the survivors fell
back to the fortifications that housed the rest of
the Seventy-First Regiment. The Americans
advanced.  Unfortunately the fortifications
(redoubts) were stronger than what they
expected.  The pits were as deep as a creek and
ran in front of the position. These proved to be a
great obstacle for the Continentals. The British
defenders held their fire until the American force
was within sixty yards then let loose with a
devastating volley, halting the American
advance.

RECRUITING
When the Ninth regiment had
left Halifax to march North,
General Nash had left Colonel
John Williams had been left in
command of the recruiting
effort.  But recruiting was
tough and later would lead to
the reduction of the Carolina
Line at Valley Forge.UNIFORMS

In Oct 1788 there was a
clothing windfall when a large
shipment of uniforms arrived
from France.  The waistcoats
and breeches were all alike, and
although the entire coast was
faced in red, some were blue
while others were brown.   The
Carolina Line was given blue.
Now the main army, at least
until the new issue wore out,
was now to present some
semblance of an uniformed
force.
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The American’s first faltered then drove on
forcing the Hessians regiment from its position.
Those Hessians and British that fled crowded
aboard the few boats available. The North
Carolinian militia sighted them; but Lincoln
would not allow them to charge due to their lack
of service.

The battle raged strong for several hours. Then
Lincoln's troops began to run low on
ammunition, just as enemy reinforcements were
sighted crossing the inlet from the island.
Retreat was ordered and was carried out in an
orderly fashion; the wounded and the artillery
brought off under the protection
of the mounted units and the
Virginia militia.  The battle had
lasted for more than two hours.
American casualties were 146
killed and wounded, with 155
missing.

Losses within the Nine Months
Carolina units included ten
killed, and five sergeants and
twenty-six rank and files
wounded.  Andrew Jackson's
older brother Hugh, a volunteer
serving under Davie, died soon
after the battle from excessive
heat and fatigue.  Two
Lieutenant Colonels died later
from their wounds.

Because of the short enlistment
period, more Continental
officers were sent back to North
Carolina to recruit.  But all
through the war recruiting was
the greatest obstacle to filling
out the North Carolina units.

In the spring of 1779 at West
Point, New York, all the
officers of the North Carolina
Line threatened to resign unless North Carolina
took some notice of their distressed situation.
This forced the North Carolina General
Assembly to take action.  To slow the
resignation of officers the legislature, on May 13,
1779, passed a resolution offering officers half
pay for life, the right to purchase personal
supplies and one uniform a year at the same
prices existing at the beginning of the war,
exemption from taxation on lands and a pension
for the widows of those killed in action.

CHARLESTON FALLS
Twice before the British mounted campaigns to
capture Charleston. But both times Charleston’s
natural defenses proved too strong.  This time it
was different. On May 12th General Lincoln
surrendered the American Southern army. This
provided the British a base from which to work.
This also did a lot to encourage loyalism to the
Crown.

CAMDEN - JAMES
TAKEN PRISONER
After the loss of the Southern Army, the closest
American troops were at Hillsborough, North
Carolina, commanded by Major General Baron
De Kalb. De Kalb also had two regiments of
Maryland and Delaware regulars.  This was not a
positioned to be envied as the surrounding land
had been plundered so much, that the troop were
on survival rations.

 Map of the Battle of Camden
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With General Gate's victory at Saratoga,
Congress favored him over Washington and
appointed him to
command the army of the
south over Washington's
recommendations that
General Greene be given
the job.  While Gates was
in route, General De
Kalb moved his troops
towards Camden.
DeKalb's route was dictated by the amount of
food available to forage.  Upon his arrival,
General Gates changed the route to be more
direct; however, because the army could not get
the food it needed the order largely went
unheeded.  Gates relied on long inexperienced
supply trains.  This resulted in little food
reaching these troops.  The troops continued to
exist on survival rations.  Officers were using
their body powder to thicken their soup.

Cornwallis heard of Gates’ approach to Camden.
Cornwallis’ intelligence thought Gates’ army
consisted of over 7,000 troops. (In reality it was
just 3,000.) Such size he felt required him to
reinforce the Camden garrison, so he set out to
confront Gates.

Jethro Sumner was in command of the North
Carolina forces.  His mission was to act as a
scouting unit and hold any force from reaching
the main body of militia.

Sumner's intelligence suggested that Cornwallis
was going to attack North Carolina.  Gates
ignored this report.  In fact, Cornwallis had
made the decision to invade North Carolina.  The
effort consisted of a three-column thrust.  Major
James Craig was to be sent up the coast to take
Wilmington, thereby controlling the Cape Fear
River as a supply route to Cross Creek.  The
center column under Cornwallis's direction
would march to Hills brought by way of
Charlotte.  The left flank, on the mountainside,
would consist of a force made up of Tories and
commanded by Patrick Ferguson.

Ignoring the conditions of his troop and not
knowing the actual strength of his enemy, Gates
was determined to engage the enemy at the first
opportunity. Gates thought his army was 7,000
strong.  Actually it was only 3,052.

On 15 August 1780, Cornwallis set out to attack
the American encampment at dawn.  They would
have caught the Americans napping had Gates
not chosen to move towards Camden.

The American Army had been marching for
about four hours when they
reached an open area between
two branches of the Gum
Swamp.  Suddenly, the
vanguard troops slammed into
the mounted troops leading
Cornwallis's forces.  After a
brief engagement both sets of
troops retreated to the

protection of the larger force.  Gates called a
council of war, which at least thirteen general
officers attended. Gates asked what their next
step should be. All agreed with Edward Stevens's
observation, "Is it not too late now  to do anything

but fight?"2

The engagement commenced the following
morning in the open field between the two
branches of the Gum Swamp.  Many after the
battle felt the engagement shouldn't have been
called a battle; because,  Gates had no battle plan
and seemed aloof to the events happening around
him.  It is difficult to understand that during the
entire battle Gates didn’t issue one order.

Cornwallis pressed forward as soon as the
engagement started.  British infantry under
Lieutenant Colonel James Webster pressed
forward to engage the Virginia and Caswell's
North Carolina Militia.  Gates should have used
DeKalb's regular line troops who had battle
experience.  Instead the North Carolina militia
which had been thrown together and were really
undisciplined, were committed to the battle.

Webster’s unit hit the Virginia militia with such
force that broke and ran. Then he focused on the
North Carolina militia. Lieutenant Colonel
Henry Dixon’s battalion stood fast, long enough
to fire three rounds and to engage the British
with bayonets. It was said, that his unit "pushed
bayonets to the last."
Dixon’s battalion together with the Delaware and
Maryland Continentals fought well and as long
as they could. They fell back, rallied, fell back,
and allied once again.  They stood fast against a
bayonet charge.  Only when Cornwallis sent in
Tarleton's Dargoons did Dixon’s unit give way.
Gates tried to rally his army, but was caught up
in the stream of humanity and was carried from
the field with them.

                                                
2 Johnson, SKetches of Greene, I. 489-91

During the whole
battle Gates gave
no orders.
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As end of this battle the British had won the day
loosing 324 men while the American's lost
somewhere between 800-900 killed and 1,000
taken prisoner.

General  DeKalb was killed and stripped of his
uniform while he lay on the battlefield.  James
McCrory (Ref #21) was one of the thousand who
were captured.   An officer from Col. Tarletons

dragoons captured him.3 This was quite unusual
since Tarletons troops often did not take
prisoners. James was to spend five or more
months on a prison ship just off of coast of
Wilmington.

For Cornwallis the victory was complete, the
American southern army no longer existed.  On
the American side it was quite difficult to believe
that Gates had been defeated so completely.  But
at last, even congress came to grips with it and
put an end to desire Gates' had to become "the"
commanding general of all the American armies.

                                                
3 Letter by J.L. Davenport to Mrs. Minnie E.
Hogan, College Park Georgia, Commissioner,
Rev. War Section, Dated 15 January 1913.

Bloody Ban
Lieutenant Colonel Banastre
Tarleton led the Dragoon Guards.
He was most feared of all the British
commanders.  Often Tarleton
bragged that he had killed more men
and ravished more women than any
man in America.
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HANDED DOWN
STORIES

Family stories concerning James and pulled
together by Robert H. McCrory of Ardmore,
Oklahoma.

One story concerns what happened to James at
the battle of Camden. James had his back against
a fallen tree and was fighting off two British
soldiers armed with bayonets, with a sword. He
was getting the worst of it when a British Officer
(from Col. Tarletons dragoons) rode up on a
horse and shouted to James that if he could make
his way over to him, the officer would make him
prisoner.  So James did just that and the officer
held his sword out over James head and
proclaimed him a prisoner of the Crown.

Nothing survives about the prison experience
other than he was imprisoned off of Wilmington,

(Ref #21) New Jersey4 the prisoners were given
a consent diet of navy beans.  He disliked navy
beans so much that it became a tradition for
some descendant families for more than three
generations.

Includes a tale of an incident that happened to
James right after his parole from prison in the
summer of 1781. James was released without
shoes and in his underwear.  As part of the
conditions of his James had to swear not take up
arms again against the crown. The family story
says that there was snow on the ground, but that
version conflict with the Official Record that

would place the release in the July of 17815.

Another story tells of an incident when James
was separated from his unit and hungry.  He
went to a house and asked for food and was
invited in by a woman who had a son about 16
years old.  James sat and ate peaches and milk at
a table and leaned his musket against the table on
his right.  The boy asked to pick up the gun but
he told him no because the gun was keeping him
alive.  The boy subsequently left the house.
Some minute's later three British loyalist (Tories)
soldiers arrived and demanded his surrender.
James could not surrender because of the oath in
had made when he was paroled. Only one of the
                                                
4 Statement by Andrew Bay of Tennessee, 3rd of
May, 1820.
5 Letter by J.L. Davenport to Mrs. Minnie E.
Hogan.,,,

three soldiers had a musket, the other two being
armed with spears.  So James sat about
convincing them that if they choose to fight, that
he would be able to shoot at least one of them.
That he had the advantage since he was in the
house.

Through bargaining, James and the three men
agreed that the two men without guns would
remain at the house while James and the armed
soldier walked down the road under cover of his
own musket.  At a point about a half-mile away
they stopped.  Both agreed to lift their weapons
in the air and fire, then each would run in the
opposite direction.  The soldier had done his
duty and both lived.

Another tale speaks of James taking Colonel
Bryant, a British Officer prisoner and turning
him over to the Continentals (Ref #21). As a
reward, James kept the colonel’s red coat.  This
he proudly wore for years after.  This incident
probably occurred at the battle of Cowpens when
so many British officers were captured. (Here is
an example of an infantry officer's coat.)
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COWPENS - Finally a
Victory

ecember 1780 found James assigned to
General Morgan. Cornwallis was
deciding what his next step should be
after the annihilation of his forces at
King's Mountain.  Surveying his

situation Cornwallis was convinced he should
abort his invasion of North Carolina and pull
back to Winnsboro, South Carolina.   December
2, 1780, General Nathanael Greene took
command of the American southern army at
Charlotte, North
Carolina.  At this point
in time Greene’s army
consisted of some 2,300
men on paper with
1,500 fit for duty.
Greene sent 600 men,
including Colonel
William Washington's
Calvary, to the west
under the command of
General Daniel Morgan
and took the rest of his
forces Southeast to
Cheraw, South
Carolina. Their supplies
were more available.
Cornwallis sent
Tarleton and 1,100
troops after Morgan
while Cornwallis
marched the rest of his
army northwest to cut
Morgan off from
Greene.
Tarleton started after
Morgan on January 6th,
1781.  Morgan retreated
towards the fords across
the Broad River, but
when they were within
six miles of the fords,
Morgan learned that the
river was swollen from winter rains. His
intelligence put Tarleton within ten miles of his
position and coming fast.  Rather than risk being
caught during the crossing Morgan turned to
fight.

It was near sunset on January 16th Morgan
arrived at a place known locally as "Hannah's
Cowpens." Cowpens was near the rest of a long,
gently sloping ridge, covered with open woods,
the underbrush cleared away by grazing cattle.
To Morgan’z rear was the swollen Broad river,
which discouraged retreat.  Morgan realized that
his flanks were exposed which invited
encirclement.  It was a situation where the
swiftness of the Calvary could be decisive and
Tarleton's British Legion was considered by
many to be the best mounted unit serving in the
British forces in America.  Not a healthy
situation to be in.

Three things were to give Morgan’s troop the
motivation and ultimate
advantage over Tarleton.
First, Tarleton's unit was
noted for taking no
prisoners.  In fact the
phrase "Tarleton's quarters"
came when his men killed
surrendering American
troops during an earlier
battle.  The second, was the
lack of a way to retreat.
Third, Picken’s South
Carolina unit had increased
their strength to about

1,100.

D

James Morgan was a very different

individual.  Rough and tough and ready

with his fists, he had risen to command

through sheer ability.  Known to many

as the Old Wagoner because he had

driven supply wagon for Bradock's

army, he had been hit by an Indian bullet

in the French and Indian War an lost all

his teeth in his lower left jaw.  For

striking a British lieutenant he had

received four hounded ninety-nine

strokes of the lash, but miraculously

survived. From this injury Morgan had

great waves of racking pain from

rheumatism. The massive scar on his

back inspired the men to whom Morgan

showed it.  It became his badge of

courage.
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Cowpens was an unorthodox, but
veritable gem of a battle.  It was fought in
the early morning hours of January 17th,
1781; Daniel Morgan inflicted a smashing
defeat on the arrogant and impetuous
Banastre Tarleton.

To keep warm the Americans slapped
their hands together to keep warm.
Tarleton's infantry units had been
marching since 3:00 A.M. so they were
tried when they contacted the Americans.
Tarleton was not one to halt and ponder
once he saw the enemy.

This time was no exception, upon seeing
the enemy Tarleton gave the command to
charge. Here is an account of Tarleton’s
advance from the American side. "About
sunrise the British line advanced at a sort
of trot, with a loud halloo.  It as the most
beautiful line I ever saw, " wrote he American
private. Unfortunately, for Tarleton he attacked
without consulting his regimental commanders,
nor did he attempt to "soften up" the enemy with
his artillery before exposing his men to enemy
fire.

Morgan galloped through his men shouting
"They give up the hallo, boys, give them the
Indian hallo, by God!" and his troops responded
with a disastrous volley.  Morgan  knew that the
militia unit under his command often became
frightened and took their heels, after two volleys.
So he promised them that if they would give the
British but two volleys they might retire from the
field.  And they did just that.

Tarleton's dragoons saw the retiring militia and
tried to seize the opportunity by pursuing the
fleeing militiamen.  As they were about to come
upon the fleeing troops, they caught sight of
William Washington's cavalry, storming up from
the rear of the American infantry where they
were being held in reserve.  The British infantry
was now charging towards Morgan's second line
where the Continentals had been posted.  When
the British were almost on them, Morgan gave

the order for an orderly retreat.  They continued
to retreat which gave the British the false since
that they were fleeing the field. The British,
thinking they were routing the Americans, broke
formation and, shouting as they came, pressed
forward. The Americans, continued their
withdrawal for about fifty yards, then reaching a
designated spot Morgan gave the order to wheel
and fire. The British were but ten yards away.
When Morgan’s men fired into the faces of their
astonished pursuers. Their attack suddenly
stumbled.  They now found themselves
becoming a frightened mob not knowing what to
do.  For a second, everything was still, then
Morgan's men charge forward.  The British
troops were thrown into a panic discarding their
muskets and cartouche boxes as they ran away
as fast as they could.  Tarleton still hoped to save
the day with a mounted attack by his dragoons.
But when he called upon them to charge, they
refused.  In a fury Tarleton gathered some sixty
men about him and charged anyway.  His attack
was beaten back and Tarleton for the first time
was forced to abandon the field. The battle was
over.  And the American's were the victors!!!

Map of the Battle of Cowpens

The battle was over
and the American's
were the victors!!!
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With a motley army of between 900 and 1,000
men of which over 600 were militiamen, Morgan
had defeated a force considered as the British's
finest.  Morgan’s casualties were amazingly
light: 12 killed and 60 wounded.  Tarleton's
losses were staggering.  There were 110 killed of
which ten were officer and 700 were taken
prisoner, 200 of who had been wounded and 29
who were officers.

This battle utterly wrecked Tarleton's feared
Legion.  It ended Tarleton's reputation of
invincibility.  A victory, a victory, a victory at
last!!!

The embarrassment was more than General
Cornwallis could stand.  He immediately set out
after Morgan determined to crush the brash
Americans and obtain the release of the British
prisoners.  But regardless, what Cornwallis did,
Morgan stayed a day ahead of him.  Morgan
continued his northward retreat that also
elongated Cornwallis's supply lines.  In fact,
Cornwallis became so frustrated that he burned
his supply wagons to enable him to move faster
and not worry about the security of his supply
columns.

On the 8th of February 1781, Morgan met up
with General Greene at Guilford Court House.
Greene asked his officers if they thought the
army should turn and fight.  To a man they were
opposed. So Greene retreated into Virginia to
give his army some time to gain strength.

In early March reinforcements of a thousand
militiamen and 550 Continentals arrived. These
reinforcements now brought Greene's forces to
be about 4,400.  They were now ready for battle.
Morgan, unfortunately, had retired due to illness.

According to some sources, this flag was
first used in 1777. It was used by the Third
Maryland Regiment. There was no official
pattern for how the stars were to be
arranged. The flag was carried at the Battle
of Cowpens, which took place on January
17, 1781, in South Carolina. The actual
flag from that battle hangs in the Maryland
State House.
Reference: Independence Hall Association
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GUILFORD COURT
HOUSE

reene took positions near Guilford court
House on ground that Greene had
reconnoitered earlier, and waited for the
British.  Charles, Lord Cornwallis, was
obsessed with the idea of bringing

General Greene to battle and destroying him.
Guilford Court House was located on a hill from
which the ground sloped gradually downward for
a mile and a half to the west, the toe of the slope
resting in a small stream.  The ground was
mostly covered with dense growth of trees,
intermittently spotted with old fields at the lower
end of the slope.  Just above the creek were
several large interconnecting fields.  The road
from Hillsborough to Salisbury bisected the area.
On either side of the general area there was
broken terrain that could serve as anchors for the
lines of battle.  The position appeared ideal to
offset the battlefield techniques favored by the
British.  Greene decided to deploy his troops
similar to what Morgan did at Cowpens with two
exceptions.  Greene didn't designate any
reserves; and the lines couldn't support each
other.

At the first clearing on the Garden Road, nearest
the Little Horsepen Creek, Greene placed the
North Carolina Militia under Eaton and Butler,
behind a rail fence, which offered a great field of
fire.  They would be their first line the British
encountered. Greene considered these first and
second lines to be the weakest so he also
strengthened the position by placing two six-
pound cannons on the Salisbury road. The
second line was made up of the Virginia Militia.
They were in the woods back towards the
courthouse.  Finally, on the hills overlooking the
approach to Guilford Courthouse, Greene placed
his Continental units with Washington's Calvary
holding Greene's left flank.  Out in front was
Light Horse Harry Lee's cavalry.  As Greene was
positioning his troops, the sound of fighting
could be heard.  Lee's Calvary had made contact.

Around 1:30 the British arrived.  Cornwallis
surveyed the terrain and made plans for the
attack.   The dense wooded area limited his use
of mounted troops.  Singleton's artillery and the
enfilading fire of the defensive lines occupied the
only unobstructed position for his artillery.  The
trees of his left appeared less dense and so he
decided to concentrate his attack there.  As the
British troops were brought up into attack
position, Singleton's two cannons opened fire.
Cornwallis brought up two field pieces to return
fire.  The right front of the British line was
composed of Regiment duBose and the Seventy-
First Regiment.  The left consisted of the
Twenty-Third and Thirty-Third regiments.  The
light infantry of the Guards and the Hessian

G

How the Infantry Fought
Infantry regiments were the
backbone of the Continental Army.
Cavalry provided a scouting arm
and, late in the wary, a quick-
striking force.  The artillery mainly
saw action as individual batteries
attached to the infantry.  Contrary
to popular tradition, Continentals
did not take cover and snipe at the
British.  They fought in a line of
battle, shoulder to shoulder in open
fields the same way their
opponents did, because it was the
most sensible way to use the
weapons they had.  The only real
difference is that the British
generally used three ranks while
the American's used only two.
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Yagers were held in the trees to the rear of
Webster and to the left of the artillery in the
road.  The mounted troops remained on the road,
just out of artillery range.

Advance!  Came the order.  They began their
assault across the field towards the Carolina line
positions.  The muddy field that had been
recently plowed slowed them.  A "most galling
and destructive fire" slowed their paces even
more.  A captain for the Seventy-First was later
to declare that half his men "dropped on the
spot."

When the British became within 40 yards of the
rail fence, they could see the long line of musket
muzzles, seemingly aimed in their faces.  The
red line wavered, paused, and appeared on the
verge of breaking.   Lieutenant Colonel Webster
road out in front ordering a volley and the
charge.

As the British came forward at a quick step,
bayonets fixed, the North Carolina militiamen
stood for a moment, transfixed by the sight of
cold steel.  Then they broke; throwing away
weapons, cartouche boxes, and anything else that
impeded their escape.  Their officers couldn't
rally them.

Singleton, hastily wheeled back his cannon to the
third line.  The Virginia militia opened their lines
and let the Carolinians through. As the British
advance they came under fire from the Virginia
Militia.  The fire they faced grew so fierce that
Cornwallis was forced to bring up his reserves
and change his front.  The first battalion of
Guards were brought up to strengthen the right
wing and, accompanied by the Regiment du
Bose.  Together they drove to the flank protected
by Lee's infantry and Campbell's riflemen.  At
the same time Cornwallis had the Yagers and
light infantry move to the left to make a thrust
against Washington and Lynch.  Tarleton's corps
was still held in reserve, with particular order not
to join the battle unless in he could see that a
particular unit was in danger of being overrun.

With this reinforcement, Webster (British) led
his troops at a slow trot against the Virginians.
Bayonets had been fixed but they were not very
effective.  Too, the British found it difficult to
maintain a straight battle line.  The Virginians
fought stubbornly holding the enemy in check so
much that Tarleton declared that the battle hung
in the balance between the two forces.  In fact it
wasn't until Cornwallis personally led the charge

that the Virginian line broke.  Cornwallis had

his horse shoot out from under him on this
charge.  Fearing encirclement, the Virginians
fled their flight rivaling that of the North
Carolina militia a short time earlier.
Now the British first battalion Guards broke into
the unobstructed area around the courthouse.
The over-zealous Webster, without waiting for
supporting troops to come up, charged the First
Maryland Regiment.  They were met with a
heavy withering fire that forced Webster to fall
back to a near by
ravine to await
support.  Webster
himself received a
musket ball
through his knee,
a wound that
would ultimately
take his life.

General Greene
rode through the
American lines
encouraging them
to stand firm and
administer a
killing blow to the
British when they
renewed their
attack.

The second
battalion of
Guards arrived to
back Webster's
first battalion.
Two three-pound
canons also were

Maintaining Formation Under Fire
The discipline to maintain solid formations under
fire came with experience and time.  It wasn't till
1777-78 at Valley Forge that they received real
training.  However, learning to stand in
formation when under fire took courage that
came only with experience.  Veterans usually
managed it; raw recruits seldom measured up.
One spectacular instance was here at the battle of
Guilford Courthouse.  The 2nd Maryland
regiment was inexperience while the 1st were
veterans of Camden.  When the 2nd Maryland
gave way before the disciplined charge of the
British Brigade of Guards and fled the filed.  The
1st Maryland reacted instinctively, wheeling left,
they charged the Guards with fixed bayonets.
They drove the British back making Cornwallis
turn his own artillery on the Guards and
Marylanders alike to break up the fight.
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brought forward to about 250 yards from the
courthouse, allowing them a field of fire upon
the American positions.  Tareton believed that
Greene's failure to occupy this knoll spelled the
difference between victory and defeat.

The two battalions of guards now charged the
Second Maryland Regiment.  The American
cannons were the first position to fall.  The new
Maryland recruits were the second casualty, they
fled.  Colonel Gunby ordered a counter attack by
the First Maryland.  The unit wheeled and
positioned so to intercept the left flank of the
Guards.  They then poured in a volley at close
range, and followed with a bayonet charge.
Colonel Washington then chose to charge with
his cavalry.  The British assault disintegrated.
Signleton's two cannons were retaken.
Cornwallis, sensing a possible rout, attempted to
rally his troops.  Failing to halt the retreating
troops he galloped over to his artillery and
ordered a round of grape shot fired at
Washington's dragoons even though it meant his
own troops would also perish.  This desperate
measure arrested the American charge enough to
let the Twenty-Third and Seventy-First
regiments to arrive.  The appearance of these
new troops and the British cannon fire force the
Americans to retire to their original position.

The British launched a second assault again
supported by their cannons.  Singleton's
American guns were captured once again, along
with two more. The flight of the Second
Maryland so weakened the left side of the
American third line that its flank was soon
turned.  Greene's troops had by now become so
dispersed that it was impossible to concentrate
enough strength in any one place to halt the
British advance.  It was time to withdraw.  He
placed the Virginia Continentals as rear guard.
The retreat was orderly and well conducted.
Conrwallis saw the opportunity to rout or
overcome the Americans and ordered the
Twenty-Third and Seventy-First regiments to
pursue the retreating troops.  The battle still
raged on the fringes of what had been the
American right flank.  This broke up Cornwallis
desire to continue the pursuit.

So ended the battle of Guilford Court House, an
engagement that lasted for about an hour and a
half, but whose results would be felt at
Yorktown.

Greene was a good commander that worried
about his troops and his mission.  After this
battle he was exhausted, but brushed fatigue

aside and personally directed defensive
preparations, for he expected Cornwallis to
pursue.  Despite the continuing rain, the weary
soldiers threw up an emergency earthwork on the
bluffs overlooking Troublesome Creek.  Moral
was high among the rank and file.  Through all
of this Greene had not enjoyed the comfort of a
bed for the past six weeks. As tired as he was, he
spent the night supervising the construction of
the earthworks and was soaked in the rain.  He
was going to make sure they were ready for
Cornwallis.  But Cornwallis didn't pursue
Greene's army.  Not because he didn't want to;
but because his losses were considerable.  The
American army had numbered some 4,400 strong
against Cornwallis's 1,600, but most of these
troops were militia with very little training.  The
Americans lost about 1,255 men a majority,
which were missing or wounded. The North
Carolina militia was charged with 576.  The
Continental units lost 290 casualties, which for
their strength was severe.  The American's also
lost his entire supporting artillery of four brass
six-pound cannons.

An aside about these cannon.   Two of the
fieldpieces had served originally with the British
and had been captured by Morgan at Saratoga,
retaken from Sumter by Tarleton at Fishing
Creek, recaptured by Morgan at Cowpens and
now were once again in British hands.  Greene
didn't however, loose his sense of humor.  He
sent a message to Cornwallis under the
protection of a flag; "to make him the offer of
four more cannon on the same terms if he would

accept them."6

The British had been severely hurt, they lost over
500 soldiers as dead or wounded which was
more than a quarter of Conrwallis' entire fighting
army.  Cornwallis was forced to withdraw just as
soon as he could care for his wounded.
Cornwallis reported a victory to superiors; but as
can be seen in the words of the Opposition
leaders of Parliament, Charles James Fox who
remarked dryly that "another such victory would
ruin the British army."

During the battle Captain Singleton, who was
near the front line noted that "the militia,
contrary to custom, behaved well for militia; "
General Greene who was further back with the

                                                
6 Merritt, Calendar of the Otho Williams Papers,
p. 36; Carruthers, Life and Character of Rev.
David Caldwell, p. 239; Historical Magazine,
2nd Series, VI (December 1867), 359.
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third line, blamed the North Carolina militia for
the defeat at Guilford Court House.  Indeed, the
militia were not as seasoned and as tough a unit
as the regular Continental units; and General
Greene expected more than of them than they
had been trained for.

The battle of Guilford
Court House was over,
and the will of the
American's had been
tested and they had
withstood the best the
British had to offer.

The battle of Guilford Court House
was over, and the will of the
American's had been tested and they
had withstood the best the British had
to offer.
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After the War

ornwallis was defeated at the battle of
Yorktown in October 1781.  After this
it took a couple of years to work out the
peace treaty.  By May of 1781 the
North Carolina Line was down to but a

shadow of its former strength.  On March 7th,
170 men had been recruited, all without arms.  In
April enlistment's for 326 and in June another
299 were discharged.  James looks to have been

discharged in the spring of 1782.7

The Continental officers were concerned about
their future.  The North Carolina Assembly had
now provided for commissioners to lay off bonus
lands for its soldiers along the Cumberland
River.

North Carolinians took this new won freedom
very seriously.  Here we see a provision of their
constitution as to the condition required to hold
public office:

After the Revolutionary War, James moved to
Tennessee.  In Tennessee the Revolutionary
warrants original grants and certificates of
survey were helpful in locating him.

4 Aug 1820 James McCrory was issued a 2560
acres somewhere in Tennessee (p.61) His name
is also found in Dyer and Sumner Counties.

Thomas McCrory, James brother is also found
here in Tennessee.  In July 1788 Thomas was
issued a grant for 640 acres.  Later in September
1796, Thomas brought some land from William
Cambell who was previously a private in the
North Carolina Line.

                                                
7Letter by J.L. Davenport to Mrs. Minnie E.
Hogan, see reference 3
8 The Constitutions of All the United States
Accoest Amendments (Leington, KY: Thomas T.
Killman, 1817) p. 224.

Although a land grant was given to individuals
serving in the Revolutionary war, it wasn't until
much later that the Congress again revisited the
topic of pensions.

It wasn't until 26 Dec 1836 that the Senate of the
United States, in the 24th Congress 2nd Session,
enacted a Bill 52 for James McCrory.  This bill
recognized James to be an ensign in the North
Carolina continental line of the army of the
Revolution, and pay his claim for five years' full
pay and in commutation of half pay for the rest
of his life.

MS

  Figure: Alabama

At some point after James left the army, and
moved to Tuscaloosa, Alabama where he would
spend the last 25 years of his life.   When James
came to Alabama, it was yet a territory and
received a plot of land (Pickens County - Section
36, Township 24, Range 2 West) on 10 Oct
1836. (See Figure Alabama)

1840 was living in Pickens County Alabama

with his son Robert.9

                                                
9 Letter by Mrs. Hogan, letter to HonorableJ.L.

C

Article XXXII.  No person, who shall deny the
being of God, or the truth of the protestant
religion, or the divine authority either of the Old
or New Testaments, or who shall hold religious
principles incompatible with the freedom and
safety of the state, shall be capable of holding
any office, or place of trust or profit in the civil

department, within this state.8
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Sometime after the war he and his brother
(unknown which one) were attacked by indians
and the brother was killed.  He vowed to kill
seven indians for revenge and in later years when
asked if he ever killed the seven replied "Yes,
seven times seven."

Buried in Old Bethany Cemetery, near Vienna
that is south of Aliceville, Pickens County, and

Alabama.10.The church near where he was
buried was later abandoned and torn down, but
the cemetery remained.  Nearby his grave is a
small marble slab.  It also marks the grave of his
wife, Jane, who died Jan 1840.

His tombstone inscription reads:  "James
McCrory, who departed this life 24 November
1840, aged 82 years, 6 months and 9 days.  He
was in the revolution and was one of
Washington's lifeguards at Valley Forge and

                                                                  
Davenport, 1/9/1913 Requesting information
about James McCrory.   (See earilier reference of
the return letter from Davenport to Mrs. Hogan.)
10 Graves of Revelotionary Patriots, V.3 L-R,
Patricick Law Hatcher.

served his country faithfully during the war.
Peace be to the soldier's dust."

Thomas McCrory, James brother, is buried in

Weaver's Cemetery, Bristol Tennessee.11

The 1840 Alabama Census, Southern District,
Pickens County, page 149, is found James
McCrory age 82, living at the residence of
Robert McCrory his son.

A grandson was living near Emelle, in Sumter
County, Alabama in 1832 and owned his
grandfather's Bible, which was printed in
Philadelphia, Pa. in 1813 and recorded the
McCrory family back to 1750.  The bible was
given to James' son Robert who gave it to James'
grandson James B. McCrory, then to Arthur K.
McCrory and then to Robert H. McCrory.  The
Bible records a feud where one of James
daughters had her name cut out and to this day
we don't know her name.

Record in the McCrory Family Bible
James gives this account in the bible.  "I was
born in the county Antrim near town called
Portglenone on the Back Water in a place call
Bellaghy.  I sailed from Belfast in the year 1775
landed at Baltimore 1st of July 1775.  Came to
Gilford Court in 76.  Listed in the Continentals
North Carolina.  Fought during the war was at
the Battle of Brandwine at German town,
wintered at the Valley Forge." Given the 24
April 1833.

                                                
11 Ibid, p. 65
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Vitial Statistics

James McCrory (Ref #4,11,12, 16, 17, 18, 19,
20, 21) or James B McCrory (Ref #1)

Most of the records state his name as
James McCrory without the middle names.  Even
his own letter to the Congress claiming his
pension benefits, he pens his name as James
McCrory. However, there are some that do
attribute a middle name to him.

Birth Place: Larga (on the river Bann), Antrim,
and Ireland near Portlanone.
Born: 15 May 1758 (Ref #1,3)
Death Date: 24 Nov 1840 - age 82yrs, 6 months
(Ref#1,3)
Burried Place: (Ref#1)-Pickens County,
Alabama near Aliceville near Vienna, Betheny
Cemetery, between Alanville & Pleasant Ridge
in Pickens County, Alabama. (Ref#2,4)-
Married: Jean Gilmore 28 Feb 1782, Guilford
County, North Carolina
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